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 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION 
FOUNDATION; INTERNATIONAL 
REFUGEE ASSISTANCE PROJECT, INC., 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

UNITED STATES IMMIGRATION AND 
CUSTOMS ENFORCEMENT; UNITED 
STATES DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND 
SECURITY; UNITED STATES 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE; UNITED 
STATES COAST GUARD; UNITED 
STATES NAVY; UNITED STATES 
CITIZENSHIP AND IMMIGRATION 
SERVICES, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR 

VIOLATION OF THE FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT, 5 U.S.C. § 552 

  Case No. 24-cv-7290 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs American Civil Liberties Union (“ACLU”) and the International Refugee

Assistance Project, Inc. (“IRAP”) bring this action under the Freedom of Information Act 

(“FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. § 552, for injunctive and other appropriate relief to compel the disclosure of 

certain records held by Defendants United States Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”), 

Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”), United States Department of State (“DOS” or 

“State Department”), United States Coast Guard (“USCG” or “Coast Guard”), United States Navy 

(“Navy”), and United States Citizenship and Immigration Services (“USCIS”).  

2. For decades, the USCG has intercepted refugees fleeing by sea and either returned

them to persecution or detained them in a secretive offshore facility in Guantánamo Bay known as 
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the Migrant Operations Center (“MOC”) until they are accepted for resettlement by a third country. 

The criteria that the USCG uses to determine whether a migrant should be transferred to the MOC 

or repatriated is not disclosed to the public and, based on independent human rights research and 

news reports, may not comport with U.S. or international law.  

3. The use of unknown standards to screen migrants on USCG vessels is particularly 

troubling because individuals interdicted at sea are not afforded the same screenings as those 

encountered by DHS on land. Interdictions and forced repatriations have allowed the United States 

government to prevent migrants from accessing the protections they would be entitled to at the 

U.S. border. And these events have largely unfolded in the shadows.  

4. Refugees who do manage to pass these screenings are subjected to prolonged 

detention in extremely concerning conditions at facilities like the MOC. Recent MOC detainees 

reported a lack of drinkable water, exposure to open sewage, inadequate schooling and medical 

care for children, and collective punishment in response to perceived violations of opaque facility 

rules. One family, represented by Plaintiff IRAP, was not permitted confidential communication 

with their attorneys for months and ultimately received only one 30-minute phone call. 

5. On December 16, 2022, Plaintiffs submitted a FOIA request to Defendants seeking 

records regarding the procedures applied to migrants interdicted at sea and the subsequent 

treatment of detained persons at the MOC. See Request Under Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA 

Request” or “Request”). A true and correct copy of the Request is attached as Exhibit A. 

6. To date, none of the Defendants have released any responsive records. 

7. The failure of Defendants to identify and release responsive records is of great 

public concern because the Request relates to policies governing the interdiction, detention, and 

processing of migrants held in near-total secrecy at an offshore detention site.  
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8. Timely disclosure of the requested information is necessary so that the public can 

evaluate whether the government is complying with its international and domestic legal obligations 

with respect to the treatment of migrants. Access to information about interdiction processes, the 

screening of migrants at sea, and the subsequent detention conditions at facilities such as the MOC 

are increasingly critical in light of recent reports that the Biden administration is considering using 

the facility to detain intercepted Haitian asylum seekers in the event of a mass exodus.  

9. Plaintiffs now ask the Court for an injunction requiring Defendants to process the 

Request immediately. Plaintiffs also seek an order enjoining Defendants from assessing fees for 

the processing of the Request. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. This Court has federal subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal 

jurisdiction over the parties pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B). The Court also has jurisdiction 

over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1346. 

11. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1402 and 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B). 

PARTIES 

12.  Plaintiff ACLU is a nationwide, non-profit, non-partisan 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(3) 

organization with its principal place of business in New York City. The ACLU is dedicated to the 

principles of liberty and equality and to ensuring that the government complies with the 

Constitution and laws. The ACLU educates the public about civil liberties and employs lawyers 

who provide legal representation free of charge in cases involving civil liberties. The Immigrants’ 

Rights Project of the ACLU defends immigrants’ rights in the United States and informs the public 

about immigration enforcement practices of the U.S. federal government. Obtaining information 
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about government activity, analyzing that information, and widely publishing and disseminating 

it to the public are critical and substantial components of the ACLU’s work.  

13. Plaintiff IRAP is a non-profit U.S.C. § 501(c)(3) organization headquartered in 

New York City. IRAP provides direct legal assistance to refugees and works with a global network 

of student advocates, pro bono partners, and volunteers to deliver legal solutions for displaced 

people. Disseminating information is an integral component of IRAP’s mission. And to engage in 

its mission-driven work, IRAP relies on FOIA requests, such as the requests underlying this 

lawsuit, to understand governmental policies affecting asylum seekers and other displaced people 

on the move. IRAP intends to use the data sought in the instant request to educate the public about 

the interdiction and detention of migrants and inform its advocacy and legal services. IRAP 

recently published a report on the MOC, which details the experiences of migrants detained at the 

facility and the human rights violations they faced.1 

14. Defendant DHS is a federal agency in the Executive Branch of the United States 

within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). 

15. Defendant ICE is a component agency of DHS and a federal agency within the 

meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). 

16. Defendant USCIS is a component agency of DHS and a federal agency within the 

meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1).  

17. Defendant USCG is a component agency of DHS and a federal agency within the 

meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). 

 
1 International Refugee Assistance Project, Offshoring Human Rights: Detention of Refugees at Guantánamo 

Bay, https://refugeerights.org/news-resources/offshoring-human-rights-detention-of-refugees-at-guantanamo-bay. 
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18. Defendant Navy is a component agency of Department of Defense (“DOD”) and a 

federal agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). 

19. Defendant DOS is a federal agency in the Executive Branch of the United States 

within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1).  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

U.S. Interdiction of Migrants at Sea 

20. The US government has a longstanding practice of intercepting refugees at sea who 

are fleeing persecution before they can reach the United States and claim asylum. Once intercepted, 

migrants are held in the custody of the USCG, pending repatriation to their home countries. Some 

are identified for screening for possible humanitarian protection, and the very small number who 

pass the screenings are detained at the MOC, under a veil of near-total secrecy, where they have 

little ability to communicate with the outside world until they are resettled to a willing third 

country. 

21. When migrants are apprehended at sea, Coast Guard officers do not ask about fear 

of return to their home countries—as is required at land borders. Rather, they only refer people for 

screening if they exhibit signs of fear or affirmatively assert a fear of return. Upon observing such 

“manifestation of fear,” Coast Guard officers must alert USCIS to conduct initial screening 

interviews. These screening interviews are conducted by USCIS via satellite phone or in person 

on a Coast Guard boat while migrants are in the middle of a precarious journey in open waters.  

22. There is no publicly available information about what standard the government uses 

to screen migrants for potential humanitarian protection. For example, individuals interdicted at 

sea do not receive traditional “credible fear screenings,” which require a determination by an 

asylum officer that an individual possesses a “credible fear of persecution” or demonstrates a 
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“significant possibility” of eligibility for asylum. Such screenings are afforded to those who 

present themselves at a land border.  

23. The lack of transparency regarding these at-sea screenings is especially alarming 

because the government does not afford migrants interdicted at sea the same protections as 

immigrants detained on the mainland. Unlike claims for protection made within U.S. borders, fear 

determinations for those interdicted at sea are not reviewed by an immigration judge and cannot 

be appealed.  

24. The negative implications of the USCG’s secretive screening process are obvious. 

From 2021 to 2023, the Coast Guard detained around 27,000 people, “a number larger than in any 

similar period in nearly three decades.” Of these 27,000 cases, USCG officers recorded only 1,900 

claims of fear and only passed 3% of people through the initial screening interview. By contrast, 

over the same period, 60% of asylum applicants on land passed a credible-fear screening interview. 

25. The interdiction processes have had a particularly grave impact on Black migrant 

communities, such as Haitians, who have been systematically denied access to protection in the 

United States. Of the 1,900 claims of fear USCG recorded from 2021 to 2023, fewer than 300 

came from Haitians, although they made up a third of the people detained on Coast Guard vessels. 

Detention at the Migrant Operations Center 

26. Following the screening interviews, many asylum seekers wait weeks in detention 

on Coast Guard vessels for a decision. If an asylum seeker receives an unfavorable determination, 

they are repatriated to their home country. If not, they are transferred to a holding facility such as 

the MOC for additional screening and potential third-country resettlement.  

27. The MOC is a detention center located at the U.S. naval station at Guantánamo 

Bay. It has been in operation at least since 1991 and has historically been used to house asylum 
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seekers and refugees apprehended at sea by the U.S. Coast Guard, many of whom are Haitian or 

Cuban. The U.S. government contracts with the International Organization for Migration and a 

private prison contractor to help carry out its operations at the MOC.  

28. There is almost no government-provided information about the MOC. The most 

recent official documents were released in 2015 and provide little insight into the Center’s 

operations and the treatment of refugees held there. What limited information the public does have 

about the MOC presents cause for concern. Accounts from former detained persons describe 

prison-like conditions at the facility with frequent instances of being confined to their rooms for 

weeks at a time. Former detainees reported great difficulty accessing and communicating with 

lawyers or even family members and that they were punished if they shared accounts of 

mistreatment with anyone outside the facility. 

29. At its peak as a detention center in the early 1990s, nearly 12,000 migrants were 

housed at the MOC or in makeshift refugee camps at Guantánamo. The U.S. government does not 

disclose any information about who is detained at the MOC, including the number of people 

currently or previously detained or the length of detention they are subjected to. 

30. Disclosure of information relating to the MOC’s operation is especially crucial 

given reports that the Biden administration is considering expanding its use of the facility to detain 

an anticipated surge of Haitian refugees fleeing the escalating crisis in Haiti by sea. 

31. The absence of any public oversight regarding the MOC’s operations and the 

conditions migrants are subjected to places these vulnerable populations at further risk. Disclosure 

of the requested records is needed to ensure that the U.S. government adheres to its international 

and domestic legal and human rights obligations.  
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The FOIA Request 

32. On December 16, 2022, Plaintiffs submitted a FOIA request to Defendants seeking 

the following records:2 

(1) Formal or informal policies, guidance, procedures, bulletins, legal or policy 

memoranda, communications, training materials, contract bids or solicitations, requests 

for information (RFI), and/or legal opinions pertaining to the MOC and immigration 

detention at Guantánamo, including but not limited to records concerning:  

a.  How determinations are made whether to detain migrants at the MOC;  

b. The apprehension, processing, and detention of migrants interdicted at sea;  

c. The transfer of migrants from the MOC to the mainland United States, third 

countries, or their country of origin;  

d. The government’s legal analysis concerning the rights of migrants detained at 

the MOC (including the availability of the courts and, in particular, habeas 

corpus) and the government’s responsibilities to them;  

e. Conditions of confinement at the MOC, including but not limited to records 

concerning:  

i. Access to counsel;  

ii. Communication with contacts outside the detention center;  

iii. Disciplinary policies and, specifically, the use of solitary confinement;  

iv. Access to medical and psychological services;  

v. Access to education for children;  

 
2 See Exhibit A. 
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f. The processing of asylum claims brought by migrants intercepted by the Coast 

Guard and/or detained at the MOC or at Guantánamo; and  

g. Preparations by the Biden administration to detain an influx of Haitian migrants 

at the MOC or in designated third countries  

(2) Records from the last ten years sufficient to show:  

a. The number of individuals detained monthly at the MOC;  

b. National origin, race, religion, and/or ethnicity of individuals detained at the 

MOC;  

c. The detention capacity of the MOC; 

d. The number of detainees repatriated to their country of origin, resettled in a 

third country, or resettled/paroled into the mainland United States; and  

e. The average length of detention for migrants held at the MOC. 

33. Plaintiffs sought expedited processing of the Request on the grounds that there is a 

“compelling need” for these records because the information requested is urgently needed by an 

organization primarily engaged in disseminating information in order to inform the public about 

actual or alleged federal government activity. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E).  

34. Plaintiffs sought a waiver of search, review, and reproduction fees on the grounds 

that disclosure of the requested records is “in the public interest because it is likely to contribute 

significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of the government and is not 

primarily in the commercial interest of the requester.” Id. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii). Plaintiffs also sought 

a waiver of search and review fees on the grounds that the ACLU qualifies as a “representative of 

the news media” and that the records are not sought for commercial use. Id. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii).  
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Defendants’ Responses to the Request 

35. As of the filing date of this Complaint, Defendants have not produced any 

responsive records in response to the FOIA Request.  

36. Defendant USCIS is the only agency that has granted Plaintiffs’ request for a fee 

waiver. 

37. All Defendants have denied Plaintiffs’ request for expedited processing.  

38. Under the statute, Defendants ordinarily have twenty working days to respond to a 

request. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i). More than twenty working days have passed since 

Plaintiffs submitted the Request.  

39. Plaintiffs have exhausted their administrative remedies with respect to the FOIA 

Request because the Defendants have failed to comply with FOIA’s time limit provisions. See 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i). 

ICE’s Response 

40. In a letter dated December 24, 2022, ICE acknowledged it received the Request and 

denied Plaintiffs’ request for a fee waiver.  

41. On October 17, 2023, Plaintiffs sent a follow-up email inquiring about the status of 

the Request.  

42. On October 23, 2023, ICE responded, noting that the Request was still in queue to 

be processed. 

43. On April 12, 2024, ICE responded noting that requested records were not under 

their purview and referred instead to the Coast Guard and Navy.  
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44. Despite the agency’s response, ICE is known to be involved in the detention of 

interdicted migrants pending their screening for humanitarian protection and potential transfer to 

the MOC.3 On information and belief, ICE has possession and control of the requested records. 

DHS’s Response 

45. On January 6, 2023, DHS responded with a receipt of the FOIA Request and denied 

the request for a fee waiver. It also requested a narrowing of the period for the Request.  

46. On April 5, 2023, Plaintiffs responded that the timeline of the Request could be 

limited to a ten-year period. 

47. On October 17, 2023, Plaintiffs sent a follow-up email inquiring about the status of 

the Request.  

48. On October 18, 2023, DHS stated that the case was closed because they did not 

receive Plaintiffs’ response dated April 5, 2023.  

49. On November 1, 2023, Plaintiffs followed up again to reopen the case. To this date, 

they have received no responsive records. 

State Department’s Response 

50. On January 30, 2023, the State Department confirmed receipt of the Request and 

sent a clarification email requesting a timeframe for the search.  

51. On January 31, 2023, Plaintiffs responded limiting the timeframe to a ten-year 

period. 

 
3 On March 21, 2024, the U.S. mission to the United Nations responded to queries by the UN Working Group 

on Enforced Involuntary Disappearances and identified ICE and DOS as responsible for administering the MOC. 
See OHCHR, U.S. Response to Communication G/SO 217/1/USA, 
https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/disappearances/comments-states/wgeid132-us-
comment.pdf.  
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52. On March 31, 2023, the State Department sent an additional clarification email 

asking if the timeframe could be limited to the past five years instead.  

53. On April 3, 2023, Plaintiffs had a phone discussion with the State Department 

representative and agreed to amend the timeframe for Part I of the Request from ten years to five 

years, reserving the option to request an additional five years of records if the information provided 

did not sufficiently respond to the Request.  

54. On April 7, 2023, the State Department responded via email acknowledging these 

changes.  

55. On October 17, 2023, Plaintiffs sent a follow-up email inquiring about the status of 

the Request. 

56. On October 23, 2023, the State Department responded, noting that the Request was 

in the expedited processing track and had an estimated date of completion of October 31, 2024. 

USCIS’s Response 

57. On December 16, 2022, USCIS confirmed receipt of the FOIA Request and granted 

Plaintiffs’ request for a fee waiver. 

58. On December 30, 2022, USCIS followed up with a “clarification request” 

maintaining that the MOC was not a “detention” center and could not be described as such. 

59. On February 13, 2023, the Request was administratively closed.  

60. On March 17, 2023, Plaintiffs resubmitted the FOIA request.  

61. On March 17, 2023, USCIS submitted another clarification request restating that 

the MOC was not a “detention” center and could not be described as such.  

62. On March 30, 2023, Plaintiffs reiterated that they were seeking information about 

the MOC and migrants held or detained there.  
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63. On April 18, 2023, USCIS once again stated that “the MOC is not a detention 

facility and none of the migrants there are detained.” They indicated that Plaintiffs would have to 

“remove all references to” detention before USCIS would fulfill the FOIA request. 

64. On May 5, 2023, Plaintiffs resubmitted the FOIA request to Defendant USCIS 

without describing the MOC as a “detention” center as required by their clarification request.  

65. On October 17, 2023, Plaintiffs sent a follow-up email inquiring about the status of 

the Request. 

66. On October 17, 2023, USCIS responded that the Request was still being processed 

and Plaintiffs’ position was 726 in a queue of 1,132 requests. They did not provide an estimate of 

when the request would be fulfilled. 

USCG’s Response 

67. On March 22, 2023, USCG acknowledged receipt of the Request.  

68. On October 17, 2023, Plaintiffs sent a follow-up email inquiring about the status of 

the Request.  

69. On November 30, 2023, the Coast Guard responded that no responsive records were 

found pertaining to the Request. Plaintiffs submitted an administrative appeal to this response on 

December 29, 2023. 

70. Plaintiffs have not received any response to the appeal from the Coast Guard.  

Navy’s Response 

71. On April 18, 2024, Plaintiffs submitted a FOIA request with the Navy.  

72. The Navy did not acknowledge receipt of the Request and has not yet provided any 

responsive records to Plaintiffs.  
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

73. The failure of Defendants to make a reasonable effort to search for records 

responsive to the Request violates the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3), and Defendants’ corresponding 

regulations. 

74. The failure of Defendants to promptly make available the records sought by the 

Request violates the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A), (a)(6)(A), and Defendants’ corresponding 

regulations. 

75. The failure of Defendants to process Plaintiffs’ request expeditiously and as soon 

as practicable violates the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E), and Defendants’ corresponding 

regulations. 

76. The failure of Defendants to grant Plaintiffs’ request for a waiver of search, review, 

and duplication fees violates the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4), (a)(6), and Defendants’ 

corresponding regulations. 

77. The failure of Defendants to grant Plaintiffs’ request for a limitation of fees violates 

the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4), (a)(6), and Defendants’ corresponding regulations. 

REQUESTED RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court: 

A. Order Defendants to conduct a thorough search for all responsive records; 

B. Order Defendants to immediately process and release any responsive records; 

C. Enjoin Defendants from charging Plaintiffs search, review, or duplication fees for 

the processing of the Request; 

D. Award Plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in this action; 

and  
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E. Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

Dated: September 26, 2024        Respectfully submitted, 

Deepa Alagesan 
Kimberly R. Grano 
INTERNATIONAL REFUGEE 
ASSISTANCE PROJECT 
One Battery Park Plaza, 33rd Floor 
New York, NY 10004 
Tel: (516) 838-7044 
dalagesan@refugeerights.org 
kgrano@refugeerights.org 
 
Amy Belsher  
Perry Grossman 
Guadalupe Aguirre 
New York Civil Liberties Union  
125 Broad Street, 19th Floor 
New York, NY 10004 
Tel: (212 ) 607-3300 
abelsher@nyclu.org 
pgrossman@nyclu.org 
laguirre@nyclu.org 

/s/ Wafa Junaid  
Wafa Junaid 
Noor Zafar 
Brett Max Kaufman 
Judy Rabinovitz 
American Civil Liberties Union Foundation 
125 Broad Street, 18th Floor 
New York, New York 10004  
Phone: (212) 549-2660  
wjunaid@aclu.org 
nzafar@aclu.org 
bmkaufman@aclu.org 
jrabinovitz@aclu.org 
 

Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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December 16, 2022 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
Chief Privacy Officer/Chief FOIA Officer 
The Privacy Office 
245 Murray lane, SW, Stop 0655 
Washington, D.C. 20528-0655 
Email: foia@hq.dhs.gov  
 
U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement 
Freedom of Information Act Office  
500 12th Street SW, Stop 5009  
Washington, D.C. 20536-5009  
Email: ICE-FOIA@dhs.gov 
 
U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services 
National Records Center (NRC) 
FOIA/PA Office 
P.O. Box 648010 
Lee’s Summit, MO 64064-8010 
Email: FOIAPAQuestions@uscis.dhs.gov  
 
U.S. Department of State 
Office of Information Programs and Services 
A/GIS/IPS/RL 
2201 C Street N.W., Suite B266 
Washington, D.C. 20520-0000 
Email: FOIARequest@state.gov 
 
U.S. Coast Guard 
Commandant (CG-6P)  
U.S. Coast Guard  
2703 Martin Luther King Jr. Ave SE, STOP 7710  
Washington, D.C. 20593-7710 
Email: EFOIA@uscg.mil  
 
 
Re: FOIA Request for Records Related to Migrant Operations Center at the United 

States Naval Station, Guantánamo Bay, Cuba (Fee Waiver & Expedited Proceeding 
Requested) 

 
To Whom It May Concern: 

Case 1:24-cv-07290     Document 1-1     Filed 09/26/24     Page 2 of 12

mailto:foia@hq.dhs.gov
mailto:ICE-FOIA@dhs.gov
mailto:FOIAPAQuestions@uscis.dhs.gov
mailto:FOIARequest@state.gov
mailto:EFOIA@uscg.mil


    
 

2 
 

 The American Civil Liberties Union and the American Civil Liberties Union Foundation 
(together, the “ACLU”)1 and the International Refugee Assistance Project (“IRAP”)2 submit this 
Freedom of Information Act request (the “Request”) seeking records pertaining to the detention 
of migrants at the Migrant Operations Center (“MOC”) at the United States Naval Station, 
Guantánamo Bay, Cuba. 

 Requestors also seek a fee waiver, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A),3 and expedited 
processing, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E).4 The justification for the fee waiver and 
expedited processing are set out in detail below. 
 

I. Background 
 
The requested records pertain to the Migrant Operations Center (“MOC”) at Guantánamo 

Bay, which houses migrants intercepted at sea in the Caribbean region.5 Although the MOC has 
been in operation since at least the 1990s, the public knows very little about the facility, 
including how many people are currently held there, what legal process MOC detainees are 
entitled to if they are seeking asylum, or the conditions under which they are detained.  

 
The little public information about the MOC raises serious concerns. The MOC has 

primarily held asylum seekers and refugees fleeing war, natural disaster, and political violence in 
Haiti and Cuba.6 At its peak as a detention center in the early 1990s, nearly 12,000 migrants 
were housed at the MOC or in makeshift refugee camps at Guantánamo.7 Currently, migrants are 
detained under a veil of near-total secrecy, with little ability to communicate with the outside 

                                                           
1 The American Civil Liberties Union Foundation is a 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(3) organization that provides 

legal representation free of charge to individuals and organizations in civil rights and civil liberties cases, and 
educates the public about civil rights and civil liberties issues across the country. The American Civil Liberties 
Union is a separate non-profit, 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(4) membership organization that educates the public about the 
civil liberties implications of pending and proposed state and federal legislation, provides analysis of pending and 
proposed legislation, directly lobbies legislators, and mobilizes its members to lobby their legislators. 

2 IRAP is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit and nonpartisan organization that organizes law students and lawyers to 
develop and enforce a set of legal and human rights for refugees and displaced persons.  

 
3 See also 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k); 22 C.F.R. § 171.16(a). 

4 See also 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(e); 22 C.F.R. § 171.11(f). 

5 United States Dep’t. of State, Bureau of Population, Refugees, Migration, “Fact Sheet: Migrant 
Operations at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba,” Sept. 2015, available at 
https://s3.documentcloud.org/documents/2772373/Guantanamo-MOC-Fact-Sheet-as-of-Sept-2015.pdf (hereinafter 
“MOC Fact Sheet”). 

6 Muzaffar Chishti and Jessica Bolter, “Rise in Maritime Migration to the United States is a Reminder of 
Chapters Past,” Migration Policy Institute: Policy Beat, May 25, 2022, 
https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/maritime-migration-united-states-rise; MOC Fact Sheet, supra n.5.  

7 Joel Rose, “Biden administration Seeks a Contractor for a Migrant Facility at Guantanamo,” NPR, Sept. 
23, 2021, https://www.npr.org/2021/09/23/1039950240/biden-contractor-migrant-facility-guantanamo.  
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world and great difficulty accessing or communicating with lawyers.8 Those interdicted at sea 
and detained at the MOC are rarely, if ever, brought to the mainland.9 Instead, they are 
repatriated to their home country or, if they establish eligibility for asylum, are resettled in a third 
country.10 

 
Access to information about the MOC, and the government policies that affect detainees 

there, is even more crucial in light of recent reports that the Biden administration is considering 
using the facility in the near future to house an anticipated influx of Haitian migrants.11 Plans are 
reportedly underway to double the capacity of the MOC to 400 beds, and a contract solicitation 
published last year sought assistance in scaling up the facility as well as guards who spoke 
Spanish and Haitian Creole.12  

 
To provide the public with information about the MOC, including policies governing the 

detention and asylum processing of migrants held at the facility, the ACLU and IRAP submit this 
FOIA request. 

 
II. Requested Records 

 
1. Formal or informal policies, guidance, procedures, bulletins, legal or policy 

memoranda, communications, training materials, contract bids or solicitations, 
requests for information (RFI), and/or legal opinions pertaining to the MOC and 
immigration detention at Guantánamo, including but not limited to records 
concerning: 
 

a. How determinations are made whether to detain migrants at the MOC; 
 

b. The apprehension, processing, and detention of migrants interdicted at sea; 
 

c. The transfer of migrants from the MOC to the mainland United States, third 
countries, or their country of origin; 

                                                           
8 Jeffrey S. Kahn, “Guantánamo’s Other History,” Boston Review, Oct. 15, 2021, 

https://www.bostonreview.net/articles/guantanamos-other-history/.  

9 J. Lester Feder, Chris Geidner, Ali Watkins, “Would-Be Asylum Seekers are Stuck At Guantanamo Bay,” 
Buzzfeed News, Mar. 20, 2016, https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/lesterfeder/would-be-asylum-seekers-are-
stuck-at-guantanamo-bay; MOC Fact Sheet, supra n.1.   

10 Kahn, supra n. 8; Chishti and Bolter, supra n. 6; MOC Fact Sheet, supra n. 5. 

11 Julia Ainsley, “With a possible surge of Haitian migrants ahead, the Biden admin is weighing holding 
them in a third country or at Guantánamo,” NBC News, Oct. 30, 2022, 
https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/immigration/possible-surge-haitian-migrants-ahead-biden-admin-weighs-
holding-third-rcna54610  

12 Rose, supra n. 7; Contract Opportunity, Housing Officers for Migrants and Other Vulnerable Populations 
at the Migrant Operations Center (MOC) and Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, Original Published Date: Sept. 17, 2021, 
available at https://sam.gov/opp/147ad51255e34b4aae79e5b297f4ea88/view.  
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d. The government’s legal analysis concerning the rights of migrants detained at 

the MOC (including the availability of the courts and, in particular, habeas 
corpus) and the government’s responsibilities to them; 
 

e. Conditions of confinement at the MOC, including but not limited to records 
concerning:  

 
i. Access to counsel; 

 
ii. Communication with contacts outside the detention center; 

 
iii. Disciplinary policies and, specifically, the use of solitary 

confinement;  
 

iv. Access to medical and psychological services; 
 

v. Access to education for children; 
 

f. The processing of asylum claims brought by migrants intercepted by the Coast 
Guard and/or detained at the MOC or at Guantánamo; and 
 

g. Preparations by the Biden administration to detain an influx of Haitian 
migrants at the MOC or in designated third countries  
 

2. Records from the last ten years sufficient to show: 
 

a. The number of individuals detained monthly at the MOC;  
 

b. The national origin, race, religion, and/or ethnicity of individuals detained at 
the MOC; 
 

c. The detention capacity of the MOC;  
 

d. The number of detainees repatriated to their country of origin, resettled in a 
third country, or resettled/paroled into the mainland United States; and 

 
e. The average length of detention for migrants held at the MOC. 

* * * 

 
We request that responsive records be provided electronically in their native file format. 

See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(B). Alternatively, we request that the records be provided electronically 
in a text-searchable, static-image format (PDF), in the best image quality in the agency’s 
possession, and in separate, Bates-stamped files. 
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III. Expedited Processing Request 
 

The Requestors seek expedited processing pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E).13 There is 
a “compelling need” for these records, as defined in the statute, because the information 
requested is “urgen[tly]” needed by an organization primarily engaged in disseminating 
information “to inform the public concerning actual or alleged Federal Government activity.” 5 
U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(v)(II). 
 

A. The ACLU and IRAP are organizations primarily engaged in disseminating 
information in order to inform the public about actual or alleged government activity. 

 
The ACLU and IRAP are “primarily engaged in disseminating information” within the 

meaning of the statute. See id.14 Obtaining information about government activity, analyzing that 
information, and widely publishing and disseminating it to the press and public are critical and 
substantial components of the ACLU and IRAP’s work and are among their primary activities. 
See ACLU v. Dep’t of Justice, 321 F. Supp. 2d 24, 29 n.5 (D.D.C. 2004) (finding non-profit 
public interest group that “gathers information of potential interest to a segment of the public, 
uses its editorial skills to turn the raw material into a distinct work, and distributes that work to 
an audience” to be “primarily engaged in disseminating information”).15  
 

The ACLU regularly publishes STAND, a print magazine that reports on and analyzes 
civil liberties-related current events. The magazine is disseminated to 850,000 people. The 
ACLU also publishes regular updates and alerts via email to 3.9 million subscribers (both ACLU 
members and non-members). These updates are additionally broadcast to 4.8 million social 
media followers. The magazine as well as the email and social-media alerts often include 
descriptions and analysis of information obtained through FOIA requests. 
 

The ACLU also regularly issues press releases to call attention to documents obtained 
through FOIA requests, as well as other breaking news,16 and ACLU attorneys are interviewed 
                                                           

13 See also 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(e); 22 C.F.R. § 171.11(f). 

14 See also 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(e)(1)(ii); 22 C.F.R. § 171.11(f)(2). 

15 Courts have found that the ACLU as well as other organizations with similar missions that engage in 
information-dissemination activities similar to the ACLU are “primarily engaged in disseminating information.” 
See, e.g., Leadership Conference on Civil Rights v. Gonzales, 404 F. Supp. 2d 246, 260 (D.D.C. 2005); ACLU, 321 
F. Supp. 2d at 29 n.5; Elec. Privacy Info. Ctr. v. DOD, 241 F. Supp. 2d 5, 11 (D.D.C. 2003). 

16 Press Release, ACLU, Federal Court Permanently Blocks Billions of Dollars in Border Wall 
Construction (June 28, 2019), https://www.aclu.org/press-releases/federal-court-permanently-blocks-billions-
dollars-border-wall-construction; Press Release, ACLU, New Documents Reveal NSA Improperly Collected 
Americans’ Call Records Yet Again (June 26, 2019), https://www.aclu.org/press-releases/new-documents-reveal-
nsa-improperly-collected-americans-call-records-yet-again; Press Release, ACLU, ACLU and Center for Media 
Justice Sue FBI for Records on Surveillance of Black Activists (Mar. 21, 2019), https://www.aclu.org/press-
releases/aclu-and-center-media-justice-sue-fbi-records-surveillance-black-activists; Press Release, ACLU, ACLU, 
Privacy International Demand Government Disclose Nature and Extent of Hacking Activities (Dec. 21, 2018), 
https://www.aclu.org/press-releases/aclu-privacy-international-demand-government-disclose-nature-and-extent-
hacking; Press Release, ACLU, New Documents Reveal Government Plans to Spy on Keystone XL Protesters (Sept. 
4, 2018), https://www.aclu.org/news/new-documents-reveal-government-plans-spy-keystone-xl-protesters; Press 
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frequently for news stories about documents released through ACLU FOIA requests.17  
 

The ACLU publishes reports about government conduct and civil liberties issues based 
on its analysis of information derived from various sources, including information obtained from 
the government through FOIA requests. This material is broadly circulated to the public and 
widely available to everyone for no cost or, sometimes, for a small fee. ACLU national projects 
regularly publish and disseminate reports that include a description and analysis of government 
documents obtained through FOIA requests.18 The ACLU also regularly publishes books, “know 
your rights” materials, fact sheets, and educational brochures and pamphlets designed to educate 
the public about civil liberties issues and government policies that implicate civil rights and 
liberties.  
 

The ACLU publishes a widely read blog where original editorial content reporting on and 
analyzing civil rights and civil liberties news is posted daily. See https://www.aclu.org/blog. The 
ACLU creates and disseminates original editorial and educational content on civil rights and 

                                                           
Release, ACLU, ACLU Obtains Documents Showing Widespread Abuse of Child Immigrants in U.S. Custody 
(May 22, 2018), https://www.aclu.org/news/aclu-obtains-documents-showing-widespread-abuse-child-immigrants-
us-custody; Press Release, ACLU, ACLU Demands CIA Records on Campaign Supporting Haspel Nomination 
(May 4, 2018), https://www.aclu.org/news/aclu-demands-cia-records-campaign-supporting-haspel-nomination; 
Press Release, ACLU, Advocates File FOIA Request For ICE Documents on Detention of Pregnant Women (May 3, 
2018), https://www.aclu.org/news/advocates-file-foia-request-ice-documents-detention-pregnant-women; Press 
Release, ACLU, Civil Rights Organizations Demand Police Reform Documents from Justice Department (Jan. 4, 
2018), https://www.aclu.org/news/civil-rights-organizations-demand-police-reform-documents-justice-department; 
Press Release, ACLU, ACLU Files Lawsuits Demanding Local Documents on Implementation of Muslim Ban (Apr. 
12, 2017), https://www.aclu.org/news/aclu-files-lawsuits-demanding-local-documents-implementation-trump-
muslim-ban.  

17 See, e.g., Charlie Savage, N.S.A. Gathered Domestic Calling Records It Had No Authority to Collect, 
N.Y. Times, June 26, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/26/us/telecom-nsa-domestic-calling-records.html 
(quoting ACLU attorney Patrick Toomey); Rachel Frazin, ACLU Sues FBI Over Black Activist Surveillance 
Records, Hill, Mar. 21, 2019, https://thehill.com/policy/national-security/fbi/435143-fbi-sued-over-black-activist-
surveillance-records (quoting ACLU attorney Nusrat Choudhury); Cora Currier, TSA’s Own Files Show Doubtful 
Science Behind Its Behavioral Screen Program, Intercept, Feb. 8, 2017, https://theintercept.com/2017/02/08/tsas-
own-files-show-doubtful-science-behind-its-behavior-screening-program (quoting ACLU attorney Hugh 
Handeyside); Larry Neumeister, Judge Scolds Government over Iraq Detainee Abuse Pictures, The Associated 
Press, Jan. 18, 2017, https://www.apnews.com/865c32eebf4d457499c017eb837b34dc (quoting ACLU project 
director Hina Shamsi). 

18 See, e.g., ACLU, Bad Trip: Debunking the TSA’s ‘Behavior Detection’ Program (2017), 
https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/field_document/dem17-tsa_detection_report-v02.pdf; Carl Takei, ACLU-
Obtained Emails Prove that the Federal Bureau of Prisons Covered Up Its Visit to the CIA’s Torture Site (Nov. 22, 
2016), https://www.aclu.org/blog/speak-freely/aclu-obtained-emails-prove-federal-bureau-prisons-covered-its-visit-
cias-torture; Brett Max Kaufman, Details Abound in Drone ‘Playbook’ – Except for the Ones That Really Matter 
Most (Aug. 8, 2016), https://www.aclu.org/ blog/speak-freely/details-abound-drone-playbook-except-ones-really-
matter-most; ACLU, Leaving Girls Behind: An Analysis of Washington D.C.’s “Empowering Males of Color” 
Initiative (2016), https://www.aclu.org/ report/leaving-girls-behind; Nathan Freed Wessler, ACLU-Obtained 
Documents Reveal Breadth of Secretive Stingray Use in Florida (Feb. 22, 2015), https://www.aclu.org/blog/free-
future/aclu-obtained-documents-reveal-breadth-secretive-stingray-use-florida; Nathan Freed Wessler, FBI 
Documents Reveal New Information on Baltimore Surveillance Flights (Oct. 30, 2015), https://www.aclu.org/blog/
free-future/fbi-documents-reveal-new-information-baltimore-surveillance-flights. 
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civil liberties news through multi-media projects, including videos, podcasts, and interactive 
features. See https://www.aclu.org/multimedia. The ACLU also publishes, analyzes, and 
disseminates information through its heavily visited website, www.aclu.org. The website 
addresses civil rights and civil liberties issues in depth, provides features on civil rights and civil 
liberties issues in the news, and contains many thousands of documents relating to the issues on 
which the ACLU is focused. The ACLU’s website also serves as a clearinghouse for news about 
ACLU cases, including analysis about case developments and an archive of case-related 
documents. Through these pages, and with respect to each specific civil liberties issue, the 
ACLU provides the public with educational material, recent news, analyses of relevant 
congressional or executive branch action, government documents obtained through FOIA 
requests, and further in-depth analytic and educational multi-media features. 19 
 

The ACLU website includes many features on information obtained through the FOIA. 
For example, the ACLU maintains an online “Torture Database,” a compilation of over 100,000 
pages of FOIA documents that allows researchers and the public to conduct sophisticated 
searches of its contents relating to government policies on rendition, detention, and 
interrogation.20 The ACLU has also published a number of charts and explanatory materials that 
collect, summarize, and analyze information it has obtained through the FOIA.21 

 

                                                           
19 See, e.g., ACLU v. ODNI—FOIA Lawsuit Seeking Records About Government Surveillance Under the 

USA Freedom Act, ACLU Case Page, https://www.aclu.org/cases/aclu-v-odni-foia-lawsuit-seeking-records-about-
government-surveillance-under-usa-freedom-act; ACLU v. DOJ—FOIA Lawsuit Seeking Information on Federal 
Agencies’ Surveillance of Social Media, ACLU Case Page, https://www.aclu.org/cases/aclu-v-doj-foia-lawsuit-
seeking-information-federal-agencies-surveillance-social-media; ACLU v. DOJ—FOIA Case for Records Relating 
to Targeted Killing Law, Policy, and Casualties, ACLU Case Page, https://www.aclu.org/cases/aclu-v-doj-foia-case-
records-relating-targeted-killing-law-policy-and-casualties; Executive Order 12,333—FOIA Lawsuit, ACLU Case 
Page, https://www.aclu.org/cases/executive-order-12333-foia-lawsuit; ACLU Motions Requesting Public Access to 
FISA Court Rulings on Government Surveillance, ACLU Case Page, https://www.aclu.org/cases/aclu-motions-
requesting-public-access-fisa-court-rulings-government-surveillance; ACLU v. DOJ—FOIA Lawsuit Demanding 
OLC Opinion “Common Commercial Service Agreements, ACLU Case Page, https://www.aclu.org/cases/aclu-v-
doj-foia-lawsuit-demanding-olc-opinion-common-commercial-service-agreements; FOIA Request for Justice 
Department Policy Memos on GPS Location Tracking, ACLU Case Page, https://www.aclu.org/cases/foia-request-
justice-department-policy-memos-gps-location-tracking; Florida Stingray FOIA, ACLU Case Page, 
https://www.aclu.org/cases/florida-stingray foia; Nathan Freed Wessler, ACLU-Obtained Documents Reveal 
Breadth of Secretive Stingray Use in Florida, (Feb. 22, 2015) https://www.aclu.org/blog/free-future/aclu-obtained-
documents-reveal-breadth-secretive-stingray-use-florida?redirect=blog/national-security-technology-and-
liberty/aclu-obtained-documents-reveal-breadth-secretive-sting. 

20 The Torture Database, ACLU Database, https://www.thetorturedatabase.org; see also Countering Violent 
Extremism FOIA Database, ACLU Database, https://www.aclu.org/foia-collection/cve-foia-documents; TSA 
Behavior Detection FOIA Database, ACLU Database, https://www.aclu.org/foia-collection/tsa-behavior-detection-
foia-database; Targeted Killing FOIA Database, ACLU Database, https://www.aclu.org/foia-collection/targeted-
killing-foia-database. 

21 Summary of FISA Amendments Act FOIA Documents Released on November 29, 2010, ACLU (Nov. 
29, 2010), https://www.aclu.org/files/pdfs/natsec/faafoia 20101129/20101129Summary.pdf; Index of Bush-Era OLC 
Memoranda Relating to Interrogation, Detention, Rendition and/or Surveillance, ACLU (Mar. 5, 2009), 
https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/ safefree/ olcmemos_2009_0305.pdf; Statistics on NSL’s Produced by 
Department of Defense, ACLU, https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/field_document/nsl_stats.pdf.  
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Similarly, IRAP is “primarily engaged in disseminating information.” 5 U.S.C. § 
552(a)(6)(E)(v)(II). IRAP utilizes media and systemic policy advocacy, direct legal aid, and 
impact litigation to serve the world’s most persecuted individuals and empower the next 
generation of human rights leaders. It regularly publishes materials it obtains through FOIA 
requests and shares them with other news outlets in order to reach a wide audience.22 IRAP 
publishes reports, know-your-rights documents, and other educational materials that are widely 
disseminated to the public, including through its website. These materials are made available to 
everyone—including tax-exempt organizations, non-profit groups, lawyers, law students, 
refugees, and other displaced people—free of charge. IRAP also maintains a blog; publishes an 
electronic newsletter distributed to subscribers via email; and releases information via social 
media platforms such as Twitter and Facebook. 
 
 The records requested are not sought for commercial use and the ACLU and IRAP plan 
to analyze, publish, and disseminate the information disclosed as a result of this Request to the 
public at no cost.  
 

B. The records sought are urgently needed to inform the public about actual or alleged 
government activity. 

 
These records are urgently needed to inform the public about actual or alleged 

government activity. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(v)(II).23 Specifically, they pertain to the MOC, 
a facility used to detain primarily Haitian and Cuban migrants interdicted at sea. As discussed in 
Part I, supra, the detention of these migrants at the offshore facility raises serious concerns, but 
little information is available to the public regarding the conditions of detention, processing of 
asylum claims, or the operations of the MOC. The ACLU and IRAP have therefore satisfied the 
requirements for expedited processing of this Request.  

 
IV. Fee Waiver Request 
 

The ACLU and IRAP request a waiver of document search, review, and duplication fees 
on the grounds that disclosure of the requested records is in the public interest and because 
disclosure is “likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or 
activities of the government and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requester.” 5 
U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii).24 They also request a waiver of search fees on the grounds that the 
organizations qualify as “representative[s] of the news media” and do not seek the records for 
commercial use. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(II). 

 

                                                           
22 See, e.g., Yeganeh Torbati, “Google Says Google Translate Can’t Replace Human Translators. 

Immigration Officials Have Used It to Vet Refugees,” ProPublica (Sep. 26, 2019). 
 

23 See also 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(e)(1)(ii); 22 C.F.R. § 171.11(f)(2). 

24 See also 6 C.F.R. §5.11(k)(1); 22 C.F.R. § 171.16(a). 
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A. The Request is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the 
operations or activities of the government and is not primarily in the commercial 
interest of the ACLU or IRAP. 

As discussed above, little information is publicly available regarding the MOC and 
detention of migrants at Guantánamo. The records sought are therefore certain to contribute 
significantly to the public’s understanding of the MOC and its operations. 
 

The ACLU and IRAP are not filing this Request to further their respective commercial 
interest. As described above, any information disclosed by Requestors as a result of this FOIA 
Request will be made available to the public at no cost. Thus, a fee waiver would fulfill 
Congress’s legislative intent in amending FOIA. See Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Rossotti, 326 F.3d 
1309, 1312 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (“Congress amended FOIA to ensure that it be liberally construed in 
favor of waivers for noncommercial requesters.” (quotation marks omitted)). 

B. The ACLU and IRAP are representatives of the news media and the records are not 
sought for commercial use. 

Requestors also seek a waiver of search fees on the basis that they qualify as 
“representative[s] of the news media” and neither organization seeks the records for commercial 
use. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(II).25 The ACLU and IRAP respectively meet the statutory and 
regulatory definitions of a “representative of the news media” because each is an “entity that 
gathers information of potential interest to a segment of the public, uses its editorial skills to turn 
the raw materials into a distinct work, and distributes that work to an audience.” 5 U.S.C. 
§ 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(III)26; see also Nat’l Sec. Archive v. Dep’t of Defense, 880 F.2d 1381, 1387 
(D.C. Cir. 1989) (finding that an organization that gathers information, exercises editorial 
discretion in selecting and organizing documents, “devises indices and finding aids,” and 
“distributes the resulting work to the public” is a “representative of the news media” for purposes 
of the FOIA); Serv. Women’s Action Network v. Dep’t of Defense, 888 F. Supp. 2d 282 (D. 
Conn. 2012) (requesters, including ACLU, were representatives of the news media and thus 
qualified for fee waivers for FOIA requests to the Department of Defense and Department of 
Veterans Affairs); ACLU of Wash. v. Dep’t of Justice, No. C09–0642RSL, 2011 WL 887731, at 
*10 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 10, 2011) (finding that the ACLU of Washington is an entity that 
“gathers information of potential interest to a segment of the public, uses its editorial skills to 
turn the raw materials into a distinct work, and distributes that work to an audience”); ACLU, 
321 F. Supp. 2d at 30 n.5 (finding non-profit public interest group to be “primarily engaged in 
disseminating information”). The ACLU and IRAP are thus each a “representative of the news 
media” for the same reasons that they are “primarily engaged in the dissemination of 
information.” 
 

Furthermore, courts have found other organizations whose mission, function, publishing, 
and public education activities are similar in kind to the ACLU and IRAP’s to be 
“representatives of the news media” as well. See, e.g., Cause of Action v. IRS, 125 F. Supp. 3d 

                                                           
25 See also 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k)(2)(iii); 22 C.F.R. § 171.16(a)(iii). 

26 See also 6 C.F.R. §5.11(b)(6); 22 C.F.R. § 171.14(b)(5)(ii)(C). 
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145 (D.C. Cir. 2015); Elec. Privacy Info. Ctr., 241 F. Supp. 2d at 10–15 (finding non-profit 
public interest group that disseminated an electronic newsletter and published books was a 
“representative of the news media” for purposes of the FOIA); Nat’l Sec. Archive, 880 F.2d at 
1387; Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Dep’t of Justice, 133 F. Supp. 2d 52, 53–54 (D.D.C. 2000) (finding 
Judicial Watch, self-described as a “public interest law firm,” to be a news media requester).27 
As was true in those instances, the ACLU and IRAP meet the requirements for a fee waiver here. 

* * * 

Pursuant to applicable statutes and regulations, requestors expect a determination 
regarding expedited processing within 10 days. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(ii); 6 C.F.R. § 
5.5(e)(4); 22 C.F.R. § 171.11(f)(4). 

 
If the Request is denied in whole or in part, Requestors ask that you justify all denials by 

reference to specific exemptions to FOIA. Where a document contains information that falls into 
one or more of the categories described above, Requestors seek the entirety of that document. If 
processing the entirety of a given document would be unusually burdensome, we ask that you 
give us an opportunity to narrow our request. Please disclose all segregable portions of otherwise 
exempt records. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(b).  
 

 Thank you for your prompt attention to this matter. Please furnish the applicable records 
to: 
 

Brett Max Kaufman 
Senior Staff Attorney   

 American Civil Liberties Union 
125 Broad Street, 18th Floor  
New York, NY 10004 
Tel: 212-549-2603 
bkaufman@aclu.org 
 

 

Megan McDonough 
Supervising Attorney 
International Refugee Assistance Project | 
New York 
One Battery Park Plaza, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10004 
Tel: 516-838-1869 
mmcdonough@refugeerights.org 

 
 We affirm that the information provided supporting the request for expedited processing 

is true and correct to the best of our knowledge and belief. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(vi).  
 

 

         

 

                                                           
27 Courts have found these organizations to be “representatives of the news media” even though they 

engage in litigation and lobbying activities beyond their dissemination of information and public education 
activities. See, e.g., Elec. Privacy Info. Ctr., 241 F. Supp. 2d 5; Nat’l Sec. Archive, 880 F.2d at 1387; see also 
Leadership Conference on Civil Rights, 404 F. Supp. 2d at 260; Judicial Watch, Inc., 133 F. Supp. 2d at 53–54.  
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Sincerely,  

        /s/ Brett Max Kaufman 

       Brett Max Kaufman 
Senior Staff Attorney   

 American Civil Liberties Union 
125 Broad Street, 18th Floor  
New York, NY 10004 
Tel: 212-549-2603 
bkaufman@aclu.org 

 

 

Megan McDonough 
Supervising Attorney 
International Refugee Assistance 
Project | New York 
One Battery Park Plaza, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10004 
Tel: 516-838-1869 
mmcdonough@refugeerights.org 
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